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Transcript of oral history interview with Betty Miller 
Conducted by Lisa Karen Miller on May 28, 2016

LKM:  This is Lisa K. Miller for the Garment Workers in Kentucky Oral History Project.  Today is Saturday, May 28, 2016, and we are in Bowling Green, Kentucky, in the home of Betty Miller.  And Mrs. Miller I’d just like to start by asking you to tell us a little bit about yourself – your background, where you were born, education and so on, and from there how did you get started working at the Derby.  
BM: Well I was born in Warren County, 75 years ago, grew up in Delafield, which is the, Fruit of the Loom is right in that area…
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: … and I got my GED when I was 55, and…
LKM:  Uh-huh; I think that’s remarkable.
BM: …I married at 18 and have 6 children, 3 girls and 3 boys, and 2 girls worked there and a daughter-in-law worked there, 2 son-in-laws and a son also worked.
LKM:  Wow.
BM: A lot of family was working.  
LKM:  It was really a family industry, wasn’t it?
BM: It is, and you felt like family.
LKM:  Yeah, with the other people that you weren’t related to.
BM: Yes, yes.
LKM:  So you were how old when you started working there?
BM: I started working at Fruit of the Loom in 72.
LKM:  72.
BM: And I was born in 40.
LKM:  So you were 32.  So had you had all your kids at that stage?
BM: No, in fact I was pregnant with my fifth child
LKM:  Fifth one.
BM:  And didn’t know it at the time that I was trying to get on, because my husband and I weren’t together at that time, I just didn’t know I was pregnant when we separated, so I went through a long time trying to get on the Derby, and finally I got on.
LKM:  Was it very competitive, getting a job there?
BM: Yes, if you didn’t know someone pulling for you…
LKM: Really?
BM: … and helping you get on; you just didn’t walk in…
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: …off the street.
LKM:  You had to know somebody that works there.
BM: That’s right.
LKM:  OK.
BM: And I was told by different people to don’t give up, just keep going, every week.
LKM:  Every week. And so you had to physically go there. 
BM: Yes.
LKM:  And no email.
BM: Yes, so I went every week…
LKM:  Wow.
BM: …sometimes twice a week.
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: And we sat in Louie’s office and wait for him to come in.
LKM:  And who was Louie?
BM: He was the guy that hired, Louie Willoughby, hired, did the hiring.
LKM:  Louie Willoughby?
BM: Louie Willoughby.
LKM:  So he hired people.  And so he was an important man.
BM: Yes, he was.
LKM:  Yeah.
BM: And he, he, I felt like he made me think he was going to hire me and I went back the next week, and he didn’t act like he had said that.
LKM:  Ah.
BM: And I told my insurance agent; he knew Louie.  I was just telling him, I said, “I’ve got to quit going down there; I have got to go somewhere else.  I’ve got to have a job,” you know.
LKM:  Uh-huh.
 BM: So he says, “I know Louie well,” says, “I’ll go talk to him.”
 LKM:  Ah!
BM: So he went and talked to him, and on Saturday Louie came to my house and  knocked on the door; I didn’t have a phone.
LKM:  He came to your house?
BM: He came to my house.
LKM:  Wow.
BM: And said, “Do you still want a job?”  I said, “Yes, I do,” but I didn’t have a phone for him to call.
LKM: Oh.
BM: So, I just lived two blocks below the Derby…
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: … and he come to my house.
LKM:  Wow, that’s incredible.
BM: And that’s how I got on.
LKM:  So I guess he really wanted you after that.
BM: Yes, yes.
LKM:  That was a good recommendation.  So what was your first job there; what did you do?
BM: My first job was seam, cover seam.
LKM:  Cover seam?
BM: You covered that seam across the neck of the t-shirt…
LKM:  Ah, so that doesn’t bite into your neck?
BM: Yes, and you put the size in it, the label in it.
LKM:  Uh-huh. I was talking with Ronald Miller yesterday about the innovation of putting a pocket on a t-shirt, and I, it just never occurred to me before, but that’s why those greasers in the 50s always rolled their cigarettes up in their sleeves.
BM: Yeah; they didn’t have pockets.
LKM:  They didn’t have pockets.  If you put it in your jean pocket, they’d be all crumpled, and they said, well of course, that makes so much sense.  And that was sort of the point where a t-shirt went from being an undergarment to being…
BM: To outer garment.
LKM: …to being an outer garment, which as we know today, yeah.  So how long did you do that job?
BM:  I did that job from, in September, I went to work in September of 72, and I did that.  The following March my daughter was born, and I took off a week for maternity leave. 
LKM:  So you worked right up until she was born?
BM: Up until a week before…
 LKM:  Wow.
BM: …and I would have worked longer but I had nerve spasms in my neck and I couldn’t move so I had to take off.  And they were tearing the unit out…
LKM:  Um-hmm.
BM: …going and putting in underwear, boxer underwear, or gripper, whichever they put.
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: So while I was on my leave they were doing that, so when I came back, I had to learn a new operation, which was…
LKM:  After, you had, you took one week maternity leave?
BM: No, six weeks.
LKM:  Six weeks, OK.
BM: I was off seven weeks, but I took a week off…
LKM:  I see.
BM: …and then the six weeks.  
LKM:  OK. Gotcha.  Gotcha.
BM: And they were tearing the unit out because they were putting in a different unit.
LKM:  So describe the process of doing that cover seam.  What did that entail, and like how many pieces would you do a day?
BM: That t-shirt – I forgot if it was 48 or 72. I know the shorts were 72.
LKM:  That’s how many you did?
BM: In a bundle; in one bundle.  
LKM:  Oh, in one bundle, and that bundle would take you how long to do?
BM: Our production on t-shirts was, I can’t remember the production.  Seem like it was, I can’t remember the, it was less than a hundred, but it was a pretty high number.
LKM:  Less than a hundred bundles?
BM:  Less than a hundred bundles, yes, it was less than a hundred bundles.
LKM: In a day.
BM: In a day.
LKM:  So if there were 48 in a bundle, you were doing 4800?
BM: I don’t remember, see I don’t, this has been so far back, I don’t remember what the production was.
LKM:  OK. But that would be what it was, if production was a hundred.
BM: If it was that, but it was under…
LKM:  That’s a lot.
BM: …seems like it was in the 60’s.
LKM:  OK
BM: But I couldn’t…
LKM: So let’s 40 x 60, that would be the minimum, that would be 2400 pieces.
BM: Yeah.
LKM:  In an eight-hour work day.
BM: And I was doing, I was an hour off from production.  I was doing 7 hours work in 8 hours, because I hadn’t made production.
LKM: Say that again.
BM: I hadn’t made my production; we had so much we had to do each day.
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: And I was not making 8 hours work; I did 7, what I would have done in 7 hours.
LKM:   Uh-huh.
BM: So I was one hour behind. 
LKM:  I see. So, what, what happens when you don’t make production?
BM: Well, they, they worked with you.  They didn’t, some people was just slower than others, and I was one of the slower ones.
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: And, but it, I probably would have made it if they hadn’t tore the unit out, because it took me about a year on the other job to make production.  
LKM: Really.
BM: Yes.
LKM:  Wow. I wouldn’t call 2400 pieces in one day slow.
BM: Well, it’s, I, it seems like it was 48 in a bundle, but I can’t remember…
LKM:  That’s a lot. So how long would it take you to do one piece?  You were just doing that one seam like all the way around the collar?
BM: No, just around that, across the neck in the back.
LKM:  Just the back and then you put the tag in?
BM:  Yeah, that was before, see that was, you did that before they joined the shoulder.
LKM: OK.  Gotcha.  
BM:   Because you had that little seam where I had to…
LKM:  Because it was open there.
BM: …had to go in through a little…
LKM:    Uh-huh.
BM: …thing there and…
LKM:  So can you estimate how long doing that one piece would take you – less than a minute?
BM: Oh yeah, it’d take less than a minute, oh yes.
LKM:  Thirty seconds, something? Yeah, it would have to, to do that many in one day.
BM: Yes. It just took a few minutes to do a bundle of those.
LKM:  To do a bundle, OK.
BM: The shorts was more.
LKM:  So you’d just like, go, go, go.  And so did you have like somebody pushing a pile at you, or was it an assembly line, belt?
BM:  No, assembly line.
LKM:  It was a belt?
BM: No, the first operation was the, the girl put the binding on…
LKM:   Uh-huh.
BM: …on the neck.
LKM:    Uh-huh.
BM: And, a bundle, course a bundle guy brought it to her.
LKM:  OK.
BM: And then when she finished it she’d stack it all, so many’d stack ups, bundles.
LKM:  Uh-huh. 
BM: And I would get up and go back behind me and get my bundles and stack them on my machine.
LKM:  So you were lifting these bundles…
BM: Yes.
LKM: …out of a cart or a …
BM: Out of a little, a little thing that set in there by her.
LKM:  OK.  So the bundle guy would come around with all the bundles, and you would take your bundle, and you had to pick it up and take it to your workstation?
BM: If the bundle, see we just had a bundle guy for one unit…
LKM:    Uh-huh.
BM: …so he couldn’t pick up everybody’s bundles, so we would reach, get up and reach back and do our own bundles.
LKM:  OK.
BM: And…
LKM:   So how much would a bundle weigh?  Were they heavy or…?
BM: Not bad.
LKM: So if there were 48…
BM:  It’s like, there was, 48…
LKM:  So you didn’t have the whole t-shirt at point, you just had that back piece that you were sewing?
BM: No, I had the whole t-shirt…
LKM:  You did.
BM: …except, all except…. 
LKM:  The sleeves?
BM: …the sleeves.  And yeah, all except the sleeves.
LKM:  OK.  So 48 t-shirts…
BM: Without the sleeves.
LKM: …not terribly heavy, but….
BM: No, but all day long.
LKM:  All day long, you’re picking, yeah, we were talking about that too, that, I suppose someone who’s never done this would think, you know, it’s not like you’re digging ditches; you’re sitting down and you’re sewing – how hard can it be?
BM: Yeah, it’s…
LKM:  But you have to use your whole body, don’t you?
BM: Yeah.  
LKM:  Because you’re…
BM: If you don’t hold your hand, fingers just right, you’ll the, that little ridge across there, it would knock it out, out of the folder, you’d get a raw edge.
LKM:  Uh-huh. 
BM: And sometimes….
LKM:  So that would be a second, or a reject, or?
BM: It would be a repair, and you’d have to repair it.
LKM:  Repair. So if you messed it up, you had to repair it.
BM: Yes.
LKM:  OK.
BM: And when you got the repair, the garment was completed.
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: And I would have to cut open the, on each side, that little…
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: …seam there, rip off my work and re-do it.
LKM:  And re-do it, which slowed you down even more.
BM: But you still had to make production.
LKM: But you still have to make it, right.  
BM: Yes.
LKM:  So that took more than twice as long, because you have to undo it, then re-do it.
BM: Yes.
LKM:  Yeah.
BM: Yeah.
LKM:  Wow.
BM: And then we’d have to get it closed back up. 
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: We had to, we learned to use the other machine to do it ourself….
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: …and if we couldn’t, if we didn’t get to do it ourself, then go to another girl that did that job and she would do it. But just one or two they didn’t mind, but some wouldn’t even look at it, they wouldn’t even do one shirt for you.
LKM:  Really?
BM: That’s right.
LKM:  Just like that.
BM: Yeah, and some would; it was, and the instructor would, she would take, if you got a whole bundle, she would help you.
LKM:  So the instructor was like an area supervisor?
BM: Yes.
LKM:  OK. So if you had trouble or you needed help…
BM: You’d give it to her, yes. But getting back to the, the first operation they put the binding around the neck, I call it that, and then the cover seam was next.
LKM:  Um-hmm.
BM: And then we would stack it up and the girl would come and get hers.
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: And then she would close the shoulder, and then the next…
LKM:  She’d run this shoulder seam right here on top?
BM: Yeah, all across here.
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: But that, you would be in a line, each operation was in a line; everybody was in the same line that did that one operation.
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: And it would keep going on, and then it would be to the inspector, and they would inspect it, inspect our repairs…
LKM:  Uh-huh.  Right.  So, so at every point in the line someone is doing something different to the same garment?
BM: Yes.
LKM:  So what happened if somebody didn’t show up for work?
BM: Well, they just, if they were, order was real, real, they had to get it out you know by deadline and they were behind on work, they would pull someone else from another unit that had been trained to do that, knew how to do that, and put them...
LKM:  OK.  So you, there was some cross-training, because you had done different things, OK, so you could fill in there.  Yeah, because I was thinking that could just stop the whole works if the shoulder person isn’t there that day.    
BM: Yeah.
LKM:  That’d be a problem.
BM: And that happened sometime; you would, people would not be there, it would be hard.
LKM:  Yeah. Yeah.
BM: And they would work people overtime.
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: And…
LKM:  If they had a big order?
BM: …and they would, well they would work you overtime, and there would be extra work. They would put it, tie it up and put it in a bin and if, if you needed, if someone was real fast, and they were faster than the girl they got their garments from…
LKM:  Um-hmm.
BM: … we had an assigned girl to each one of us to get our work from.
LKM:  Um-hmm.
BM: And if she sewed more than you did and there was, if no one in the unit had extra work they had it tied up in a bin…
LKM:  Um-hmm.
BM: …and they would bring it to her.
LKM:  OK. 
BM: So you worked overtime and they’d tie up the work.
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: Try to stay ahead of absentees or sickness.
LKM:  So, so overtime would be on top of 8 hours?
BM: On top of 8 hours.
LKM:  How much overtime could you work in a day?
BM: One hour.
LKM:  Only one hour?
BM:  And then on Saturday.
LKM:  OK.
BM: But just a few would stay over; most of them didn’t want to stay over.
LKM:  I can imagine after 8 hours of that I’d be ready to go home.
BM: But I stayed every hour I could get, I stayed.
LKM:  Did you?
BM: Yeah, on Saturday.  I had 60 hours one time on a payroll check. 
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM:  That was a two week, we got paid every two weeks. I had 60 hours, and so that made me work quite a few hours.  Two extra days on a paycheck.  
LKM:  Um-hmm. So, so you started there in 1972 and was that a fulltime job?
BM: Yes.
LKM:  OK.  But you were still paid per production, not…
BM: Paid production, yes.
LKM:  You weren’t salaried or anything.  And would you like to share how much you were making when you started out?
BM:  I can’t remember.
LKM:  OK.
BM: I can’t remember.  It wasn’t that much when I first started.  My first….
LKM:  But were you, you were paid according to how many you did.
BM: How many pieces.
LKM:  OK. Strictly by your bundles.
BM:  But you got so much an hour even if you didn’t; if you fell under what you were supposed to, they had to give you the minimum wage.
LKM:  So, OK, so you got a baseline pay of minimum wage.
BM: Yeah.
LKM:  OK. 
BM:  That’s the way I remember it.  
LKM:  Well I remember when I was in college, in the early 80’s, I worked at Western, minimum wage was $3.35.
BM:  Yeah.
LKM: So in 72 it was considerably less than that, I’m sure.  
BM: Yeah. It seems like my first paycheck was less than $200 for two weeks.  
LKM:  For two weeks, uh-huh.
BM:  Yeah, I think it was less than $200.
LKM:  Wow, so you did, how long did you do the cover seam job?
BM:  I did it from September, yeah, September of 72, and when I came back Judy was born in the following year in March, I had my 7 weeks off, and I came back and had to learn to sew elastic in boxer shorts.  
LKM:  OK, so you came home, came back to a new world!
BM:  Came back to a new job, yes.  
LKM:  Sew elastic in box...  So was that a new item for them, or just a new unit they put in there?
BM: I they had, was already making those.
LKM:  OK.
BM: Now I believe so; I can’t remember if it was new. 
LKM: UM-hmm.  Now I think that – I don’t know a lot about the history of clothing, but I, I just probably from old movies because I watch a lot of old movies, I think boxer shorts didn’t have elastic originally because we didn’t have the material, and they just buttoned. They just had a regular waistband, like in the 30’s and you know…
BM:  They might.
LKM:  And they just buttoned up the front, or however they closed, but there was no elastic in the waist, so this might have been the innovation of the 70’s; I don’t know.  
BM:  Before I went to work, I know my sister-in-law worked there and she was telling me how, what they, how they sewed, and it was different than what we did. 
LKM:  Uh-huh.  
BM:  I mean and she sewed, she sewed the boxer shorts, but they did it different than….
LKM:  Um-hmm.
BM: …I can’t tell you how.
LKM:  Yeah, but elastic is tricky; I’ve tried to do that, on the sewing machine and by hand, so can you explain the process of using elastic, which is stretchy, and which changes length as you’re working with it, into a waistband, what would you have to do?
BM:  Well, the, the first operation in the grippers, well the grippers and the boxers are identical shorts except the closure; they put snaps on the gripper.
LKM:  Oh, they, that’s what they’re called, grippers?
BM: The grippers they have snaps on them.
LKM:  Gotcha.
BM: And the boxers they close the little….
LKM:  They just, a flap?
BM:  They just close up.
LKM:  A little like the envelope opening?
BM:  Yeah.  They close the top of them.  The first operation was seat and side.
LKM: Seat and side.  
BM: Yes. 
LKM:  OK. 
BM:  Second operation was sew elastic, which I did.  And we got our bundles, we reached from behind us in the roll of seat and side and got our bundles. And the elastic, when I started, it was…
LKM:  Sorry. Keep going.
BM: OK.  It was a raw rubber, and it had a webbing, a cover that would go over it.
LKM:  It was just raw rubber?
BM: It was called raw rubber…
LKM:  Wow. 
BM: …and you had to cover it with a knit-like material.  
LKM:  So that’s not the same stuff we use today, for like...
BM: No.
LKM:  I know. Wow.
BM: And we had a box sitting to our side, a big old box with the rubber coming up. 
LKM:  So it wasn’t even like the elastic you buy at the…
BM: No.
LKM: …at the craft store; you had to even assemble the elastic before you sewed it in?  Oh my.
BM: You had to put it through a folder here and then you had to push it up under.
LKM:  And that folded the fabric over the rubber?
BM:  The little roll of covering that went over the rubber, covered it; it sat on a roll about this big at your knee, and you had to put it through a little spinner, like you would toilet paper…
LKM:  Yes. Yes.
BM: ….in that little thing, and if your clothes touched it, then you’d get a raw edge.
LKM:  If your clothes touched it.
BM: If your clothes touched it.
LKM:  Oh my.  
BM: And sometimes it would not be cut very well and it would be more narrow.  But you, and you had this little pusher, called a little pusher; you have to push that elastic and that would go up and the same time.
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: And it would, the grab, and start sewing through the, going under the needles and all, and you had to go so far on the front end, had to be a little larger without the elastic and all rubber, and when you come to, and you had to cut it with this little lever here, you’d push and it would cut it.
LKM:    Uh-huh.
BM: And then when you come off you have about this much, about an inch and a half…
LKM:    Uh-huh.
BM: …that you had to stop and cut it again.
LKM:  Wow.
BM:  Then you had to push, start pushing up again with the next garment…
LKM:  Um-hmm.
BM: …rubber and all, and pull it behind you and let it, and jerk it, and snap it, break it from the garment that’s coming on. And sometime you’d get a ripped back, and you’d have to stop and fix that.
LKM:  Right.
BM: And then they changed from that to, to elastic.
LKM:  Um-hmm. So about when did that happen?
BM:  I don’t remember how long it was.
LKM:  But you, did you use this rubber, what you’ve just described, did that go on for years, or…?
BM: It went on for, seemed like forever; I can’t really..
LKM:  That would seem like forever, wouldn’t it.
BM:  Maybe some of these other people that you interview…
LKM:  Yeah.
BM: …can fill in more on that.
LKM:  Uh-huh.  It just sounds very, very tricky, and…
BM:  It was.
LKM: …delicate to get it in there just right.
BM:  It was. Yeah.
LKM:  Yeah.
BM: Because if you went too far, sometimes it would go that way, you know you couldn’t get your machine stopped, and, in time to get it to the exact place.
LKM:  Right. 
BM: Because the next girl does, when she does the closing of that, her, the, it wouldn’t cover the elastic or the rubber; it would be …
LKM:  Right.  It would be exposed.
BM: It would be exposed.
LKM:  Yeah, and if you’ve ever had, felt elastic on your skin, you know when it expands and snaps back it’s not too comfortable.
BM:  And then if anybody sewed that like that, if the next girl, if she closed it, now they don’t always give, a good girl would give you back your work.
LKM:  Uh-huh.
BM: If it’s like that, because you don’t know when it’s not caught.
LKM:  Ah.
BM: If you, because you can’t…
LKM:  Because it’s all inside. 
BM: …yeah, you can’t always tell.
LKM:  Oh.
BM: And so they complain and when they do you know something’s going on; they come, the instructor would come and tell you, you know, what was going on, that she, the girl couldn’t close it because it was too far back or not up, if it was up too close, it would make it too thick.
LKM:  Right.
BM: And I had one girl sewed a whole bundle like that, 72 pair of shorts, and it was overtime; she sewed 72 pair of shorts instead of laying that bundle out and getting another one, and I had to take all those grippers off, cut them off.  
LKM:  Oh my goodness. 
BM:  Redo it, but, you had trouble sometimes.
LKM:  Yeah, and you worked there for how many years?
BM:  From 73 to 94, when they closed the plant.
LKM:  OK. Twenty years.
BM: Twenty three, almost…
LKM: Twenty-two?
BM: … twenty something years.
LKM: Twenty-two years?
BM: Yeah. Twenty-two years.
LKM: Uh-huh. Yeah. Wow.  I probably wouldn’t last two days!  They would get rid of me.
BM: You would, if you needed, if you were desperate. 
LKM: If you had to, that’s right. Well, yeah; I’ve told many people that. 
BM: I was desperate and I had to do it.
LKM: Yeah.  You never know what you’re capable of until you, you’re up against it, and there’s just nothing else you can do, and there’s nobody who’s going to do it for you.  
BM: That’s right.
LKM: And that, you find out what you’re capable of then, right?
BM: I’ve quit I don’t know how many times, in here [points to head]. 
LKM: Yeah! 
BM: But I knew I couldn’t…
LKM: But you carry on.  Well, when you’ve got six kids that’s a big incentive, isn’t it? As I’m sure was common there.
BM: Yeah, oh yeah.
LKM: Most of the women who worked there probably would have had kids, right?
BM: Some women worked until they went to the hospital that night and had their babies.  
LKM: They worked that day and had the baby that night.
BM: Yeah. Then go to the hospital that night.
LKM: Wow. That’s unbelievable.  So there was no like, you need to take, you know, this much time off before you had your baby?
BM: No; you could work right on up, long as you could do the work.  
LKM: You could work right up until you had it.
BM: But if your doctor told you…
LKM: Yeah.
BM: … you needed to be off, they would let you off.
LKM: Yeah.  And, I was really surprised to hear this; Mr. Miller was talking about this – that there were rarely any layoffs. 
BM: Right.
LKM: Yeah, because they, because they had, I mean they were such a big name in the industry, they had a huge market share, I’m sure, of, like, from all this time that you were working there, that they never had any reason to lay anybody off; they never had any slowdowns or anybody who didn’t, a customer who stopped, you know, ordering or something.  I think that’s incredible.   
BM: It was, most people, when they got on, they stayed.
LKM: Um-hmm. And did you, was it possible to like, move up into a supervisor’s position, or was that as difficult as getting on in the first place?
BM: Well the supervisors all the time I was there, most of them stayed, and if they retired, they would replace them.
LKM: Were they usually hired as supervisors, or did they work their way up?
BM: No, they came …
LKM: Yeah.
BM: … up from sewing; they preferred someone that…
LKM: You’d have to know the job very well.
BM: Yeah, that’s what they preferred – having someone that could sew and do the job and would know how to help the girls to... 
LKM: Right. Yeah, you would have to, it seems like that would just be essential, to be a supervisor there.
BM: There might have been some that didn’t know as much because they, you know, I don’t suppose very many people wanted that…
LKM: Um-hmm.
BM: …because it, it was pretty hard I guess.
LKM: Yeah, yeah.  It all sounds hard to me.
BM: And you can imagine three, four, or five people coming up to you a few minutes apart, machines breaking down, and…
LKM: Just dealing with problems all day.
BM: Yeah.
LKM: Yeah, that’s a great job.
BM: Yeah.
LKM: So, so can you describe the machine that you worked on; what was it?  Were they all Singers, or what kind of machines did you have?
BM: I can’t remember; there was other, I believe there was some other brands…
LKM: OK.
BM: …but Singer, I know Singer had some there.
LKM: And were they, they were designed, I mean the ones that Mr. Miller showed me that he got from when they were tearing out, looked just like a kind of a home model; they, these were ones that had been up in the attic that hadn’t been used for years, but I’m sure you, you used an industrial…
BM: Yeah, I had…
LKM: …type.  Uh-huh.
BM: It might have had, that might have been the ones they started out with, you know, who knows?
LKM: So was it like bigger than a home sewing machine, or what did it look like?
BM: My, the head that I had was, they weren’t huge.
LKM: They were huge?
BM: They weren’t.
LKM: They weren’t.  So like you could easily put it on this table and sew?
BM: Oh yeah.  They just had it enclosed in this big, they fix you a table, whatever job you had.  Mine, I had to push my shorts down a chute to the girl sitting down here… 
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: And could sew them two bundles at once. 
LKM: Oh really?
BM: If necessary, I could sew this girl enough to get her started, and then fold my bundle over, and put another bundle on there, and start them for another girl.
LKM: So you could push them off in two directions from your machine?  
BM: It’s according to, if you were sitting, if they had you set up that way.  Some of your girls would be sitting out in the aisle and she would have to come and get the bundle. 
LKM: So they would like arrange your workspace depending on what you were doing?
BM: I had two work, two I could do, push out at a time.
LKM: Uh-huh.  Wow.
BM: And one time I did three, and that’s when the work was very, we had absentees…
LKM: Yeah.
BM: …and I said never will I do this again. Because I did it because of a friend, you know.
LKM: Yeah, yeah.
BM: I won’t do this again.
LKM: Wow.
BM: Because if you get three different sizes that you’re sewing, and if you’re, if you sew, go over a piece of elastic that’s been sewed together, or if it’s together with metal…
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: …then your sizer will jump on you, and then you have trouble.
LKM: Uh-huh. Wow.
BM: Your sizer changes on you, and you have to, you catch it, you’ve got two bundles going, you’ve got to lay that bundle out, and that girl’s got to lay hers out, and then you’ve got to…
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: …get it solved and start again.  
LKM: Goodness.
BM: You feel like pulling your hair out sometime.
LKM: I reckon.  I, yeah, I can imagine.  Yeah, I just do, I do a little bit, I made like a couple of quilts; I made a couple of memory quilts, you know.  I had a book, I had a machine, I mean I had everything and it was still frustrating. And then I had to quilt it by hand and oh, my goodness, I thought that was just… yeah, I can’t imagine doing this kind of work day after day for years.  
BM: You got paid so much a bundle.
LKM: Yeah, yeah.
BM: And each year you’d get a raise, they gave you a little raise.
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: But it was on your ticket.
LKM: On your ticket?
BM: On your ticket.
LKM: What does that mean?
BM: That’s an hour.
LKM: Oh.
BM: So if you, if you would sew more, you would make more. 
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: So it pushed you to do more.  
LKM: And to keep you on that treadmill.
BM: Yeah. 
LKM:  Going faster.
BM:   But I had the speed, I just could not, I just couldn’t do; I wasn’t that fast.  Course some people are, just throw it through there, and I watched my work too close for one thing. 
LKM: You, you were more interested in being accurate.
BM: Doing it, yes.
LKM: Because you didn’t want to do it over.  
BM: No.
LKM: Well I think that’s ultimately that is better than, yeah, that’s, if you, if you have to undo and redo all the time…
BM: Yeah.
LKM: …that’s really going to slow you down.  
BM: Just like if you’ve got a bundle and you caught it, got sized wrong…
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: ….sometimes you’d be sewing this bundle, it’d be like a small, and you get another bundle and start, and you’ve got this small bundle on your mind, and even though you look and see that it’s a medium…
LKM: Oh, yes.  
BM: …it’s, you’re thinking of that small bundle, and you get it sized wrong and you catch…
LKM: Right.
BM: …it before the girls do it, and you have to rip all that out.
LKM: Because you switched and, yeah.  Yeah, I can imagine it’s sort of like…
BM: But I’ve caught a lot of bundles that I’ve done that way.
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: And my friends would help me, or I would set it off til lunch, and do it on lunch….
LKM: Right.
BM: …but they got where they would not let you do it on your lunch hour, so.
LKM: Oh. Yeah, I was going to say, I can imagine you’re doing this repetitive motion work over and over again, I imagine your brain would just kind of zone out sometimes.
BM: Yes, it would.  
LKM: Mind-numbing work, so if you’re not really, you know, reminding yourself to stay alert, when you change sizes or something, that could easily happen.
BM: Yeah, it does.
LKM: Yeah. So did you know how to sew before you got that job?
BM: Just a little, just...
LKM: Uh-huh. On, you had used a machine before?
BM: I’ve used, yeah, I’ve used, I took Home Ec in school, and I, I used a, just a single needle; I knew how to do that.
LKM: Single what?
BM: Single needle.
LKM: Single needle, OK.
BM: I had a machine that had four needles. 
LKM: Your, your, the one you worked on?
BM: The one that sewed elastic had four needles.
LKM: Yeah, that’s right, because the elastic has, you have those four little channels of, yeah.
BM: And then there’s your, they’re called loopers, well, I would call them bobbins, but…
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: …that was a, that made eight spools of thread I’d have to watch and see that you didn’t run out of thread.  Sometimes you’d sit there so caught up in your sewing and you’d run out of thread and not realize it and sew, and there you’ve got three…
LKM: And you had three.
BM: So you’d had to stop and rip all that out.
LKM: Yeah, I had bobbin trouble, I could never get that tension right on that bobbin on mine; I’ve just got a little simple sewing machine, but, Mr. Miller was saying too that everybody had that big cone that did, those big cones of thread so you could tell how fast one group was working by how small their cones were by the end of the day.
BM: Yeah, but different operations, now like the hem front, that did the, this close front up in here, a spool of thread would last them a long time, because they used a single needle.
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: So they would always take them smaller, smaller, bundles, threads, and use them, because theirs would last longer.  
LKM: So did they, was it a requirement that you had sewing experience before you started, or…
BM: No, no.
LKM: …did they train you?
BM: This was just rumored to me; I never heard the boss say it, but I was told that they preferred you not, they preferred that you didn’t know, and let them teach you how they want you to…
LKM: They wanted you to do it a certain way.
BM: Yeah.
LKM: Yeah, because in Home Ec, you know, you make that apron, or whatever, and you get graded on it.
BM: I think it helps; I think it does help.  
LKM: To have some experience? Yeah, I would think so.
BM:  But I was told that they preferred that you didn’t know anything about sewing and just let them teach you. 
LKM: And let them train you up in the way they wanted you.  Were there any sort of safety concerns with the, with the machines or any of the equipment, like there were, did people get injured at all?  I can imagine your fingers might get in the way of something.
BM: The, of all the 20 something years that I worked there, the only thing that ever happened to me is I mashed my finger. 
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: I didn’t reach back far, I didn’t pull my finger out quick enough when I went to break the garment, and the, the little rod there that held the needles, it hit my…
LKM: Ah. 
BM: …hit my thumb, but they took me to the nurse’s office and checked it out, but I didn’t have to take off work
 but I, there have been girls that sewed, caught their finger in the needle…
LKM: Yeah.
BM: …single needle, and they would have to come and take it, the mechanic would have to come and take it apart…
LKM: Oh my goodness.
BM: …and get her finger aloose.
LKM: So there was a nurse on the premises?
BM: Yeah, we had a nurse, yes.  
LKM: Uh-huh. I remember, I lived in Massachusetts for a year; I taught school, I taught at a private school up there, and it was very close to a town called Ware, W-A-R-E, which is where they had had a lot of woolen mills; in, it was a center of woolen mills in New England, and there was a joke somebody told me, that, well I don’t know if it was a joke, but it was like the local thing that you’d see a lot of older ladies with missing fingers who used to work in the woolen mills, because there was something they had to do with the machinery that was, whether the loom, or whatever, or, not the loom, it was the carding machine I think where they carded the wool.
BM: Catched their fingers.
LKM: Caught their fingers in it and it would actually, I don’t know if they chopped them off or pulled them off, or whatever, so they said you always know a woman from Ware because she might be missing some fingers.  So what they did to prevent that was it was like, you had to have your, you put it in here and you had to hit a button, well they made it so that you had to you put your piece in there, and then you had to hit a button on either side of the machine so both your hands were up out of the way when the machine grabbed it, or did whatever it had to do, so that, that was an innovation that prevented that.
BM: My grandmother had two fingers off from, she worked in a tomato canning factory, and she caught her fingers and it crushed them.
LKM: Ah.
BM: And she had, they had to take hers off.  And she worked at Fruit of the Loom later as inspector.  
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: Is all she could do, because, it was just, she couldn’t use a machine.  
LKM: Right. 
BM: But later, in the last few years, they gave us a burner in the [unintelligible] thread, which it was nylon thread, and it would drop down on a hot wire and burn it, and too you didn’t have to break it, and you could do faster; you could go a little faster.   
LKM: So you weren’t having to cut that thread, you could burn it.  So was there any danger of getting burned, or was it…
BM: Yeah, you could, I’ve caught my finger just a little bit, and scorched it just a little bit, and you could burn your garment if you didn’t watch.
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: If you got too close, if you didn’t go far enough where that thread, you know, it could burn the garment
LKM: Uh-huh. Wow.
BM: But they did that when they gave us a raise one year, and the sew elastics on it got one penny on their, on the bundle.
LKM: A penny a bundle, not a piece? 
BM: Not a piece, a bundle.
LKM: Goodness.
BM: And the girls didn’t like it one bit.  And they went downstairs; everybody ganged up, course I didn’t go; I just didn’t, I said I don’t think it’s, I just don’t want to go.
LKM: Uh-hmm.
BM: And I could have went on with them and just not let them know how I thought, but I thought, I’m not going to do that, I just, they’ve made, they’ve give you your price and they’re not going to change what they’re doing. So I just sat there and sewed by myself. 
LKM: And they were all gone to complain? 
BM: And they all went downstairs. 
LKM: About their penny. 
BM: But what it did, you could do a bundle quicker, so you was going to make more money.
LKM: Uh-huh. Yeah.
BM: I realized that, I thought why….[personal conversation]
LKM: So, when they did the burner, do you know about what year that was?
BM: No ma’am I don’t.
LKM: Was it like 70s, 80s?
BM: Oh, it wasn’t in the 70s or 80s; it was later.
LKM: Later. OK.
BM: Yes.
LKM: Later than the 80s. OK. So that was nylon thread. And then you were talking earlier about how you worked with these, mostly, mostly women, for many, many years and you became like a family, it was like a really close-knit group, can you talk about that a little bit?
BM: Well, now Linda was my closest friend, she was one of my in-front girls; I had three girls I had to keep, give them enough work for their production…  
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: … their production was like maybe six bundles a day, or seven, just not very many bundles, because they had so much to do, all, the whole front, and she and I became real, real close and we, she always got me a birthday present…
LKM: Um-hmm.
BM: …Christmas present, we shared Christmas.  Course you’ve got your little groups, everybody groups up, because you’re closer to come than others, but they would help one another, you know, with anything they needed they would… 
LKM: Right.  And I imagine you needed that support group, because you were doing really two jobs, [phone rings] you had a home and a family, you had a home and a family, you had kids, you had to take care of your house, you probably had to come home at night and cook.
BM: All that, yes.
LKM: And then you had to go to work and work all day.  So tell us, how did you do all that? 
BM: Well, I, when I went to work, my mother kept my, let’s see when did she start keeping them? After she retired, she babysat all the time, but…
LKM: She kept your kids while you were working?  
BM: She kept my children. But I had an older lady that kept them at one point, one time, for a period of time.  And then, another time, whenever my last little girl was born, she kept her, then after that when my mother retired she kept them. And she came to the house; my husband would go get her, and she would come over and stay, and she would do my dishes and make my beds, cook me a kettle of beans…
LKM: Oh wow, how nice.
BM: Yeah.
LKM: Yeah.
BM: And then she would go home during the day, after she finished that, she’d do laundry if I needed any laundry.  Of course I, sometimes I would hide my laundry so she wouldn’t always; I didn’t want her to do everything, you know.
LKM: Right.
BM: Just, but she’d walk back over to her house, which was just, maybe five or six blocks, come back at the evening time to be here when the children were home from school.  And…
LKM: That was a God-send, wasn’t it?
BM: It was a God-send, yes. The three babysitters I had were all older women; I never had to leave them with young, inexperienced kids, you know.
LKM: Flighty girls.
BM: Yeah, and I even kept my mother, when the girls got up big enough they could stay by theirself after school, because that way, keep the neighborhood kids out of your house; you don’t know… 
LKM: Yeah.
BM: …what goes on, and she needed the money, she wouldn’t charge me as much as the regular babysitter…
LKM: Right.
BM: …so I said I’ll just go on and keep her for protection there, and she could still do a  little, and it made it a lot easier on me.
LKM: Oh yeah.
BM: Lot of women didn’t have that.
LKM: Yeah. They had, they had to do it all
BM: Yeah.  They had to do it all.
LKM: You’d go and you’d sew for eight hours a day, and then you come home and start cooking, or cleaning, or trying to get other people to help you cook and clean!
BM: Yeah, I did a lot of that.
LKM: Right. Well, I remember I had two girlfriends in high school whose mothers worked in the Derby, and I remember coming home and one of them was, I mean she was so exhausted she couldn’t even talk. She would just lie down on the couch and put a ice pack or something on, she always had a headache, and she would say, Honey, just let me sit here for a while, you know, and I’ll get up and cook you something.  I mean she was just, you know, and I just can’t imagine having to do that, and… 
BM: I had a lot of headaches too, working there, because that lint.
LKM: The lint, yeah, the lint that’s flying around in the atmosphere, that would give you a headache?
BM: Yes.
LKM: Really.  I would think it would be the noise, but the lint you’d breathe in…
BM: The noise bothers you, but the lint, and it was worse in the t-shirts and the brief underwear.
LKM: So you didn’t wear a face mask, or anything?
BM: No. When they came out of there, they came out and they’d look like they was white-headed, they’d have so much lint off those…
LKM: Really.
BM: Yeah.
LKM: Look like it’d snowed on them?
BM: Yeah, looked like it’d snowed.
LKM: Wow. So it was mostly cotton you were working with? Did you use other fabrics, or blends at that time?
BM: Cotton and knit, because it was a t-shirt.
LKM: Knit cotton, knit cotton and woven cotton? Like the fabric, the thread was made of cotton?
BM: Well, if you sewed… they would get some materials, they would get an order, and some materials would be, you’d have to use nylon thread on, and others you’d use cotton.
LKM: OK. Depending on, yeah…
BM: [unintelligible] the fabric.
LKM: …stretchy fabric you need a certain kind of thread for it.  So what, did you have any other positions there?
BM: Yes.
LKM: Yes, lots of them?
BM: I had four different. 
LKM: Four?
BM: Yes, and that does… my third operation, they was turning in and outgoing, because they was going to, had to do briefs.
LKM: Um-hmm.
BM: And I worked there.
LKM: So briefs are stretchy?
BM: Stretchy.
LKM: Men’s briefs?
BM: Yeah. Men’s briefs, and I sewed elastic on those, but I never made production on them. You have to hold it different.
LKM: It was harder than the boxer elastic?
BM: I’m just, I’m just; it takes me a long time to get my speed built up, is what it is, I think.  But I had a new, a brand new sewing machine; I had trouble all the time with it.
LKM: Hmm!
BM: I never did make production on it. You materials would stretch, you would stretch it, like the boxer shorts, you had to hold them a little tighter to keep it under the folder, but the knit, in the briefs, if you pulled a little bit too much on that, they would, it would stretch it out it would and look terrible. And… 
LKM: Yeah, you had to get the tension just right.
BM: Just right. And if you didn’t hold it just the right pressure on the garment, it would stay in the folder, knock it out, stretch it.
LKM: Right.  Yeah, it takes a lot more skill than people realize to do this stuff. And I imagine you do get better; you do get more accurate…
BM: You do.
LKM: …because you do it so much, so many times. But I can imagine your back would ache, your feet would hurt, yeah.
BM: And I caught myself, years after I worked there, I caught myself, when I picked a garment up to start it through the folder, I’d catch myself holding my breath until I got to the end of that garment.  
LKM: Really?
BM: Then I’d take a breath. I said no wonder I was so tired when I came home!
LKM: Yeah, we do the same thing at the dentist, you know, when you see that drill or whatever coming toward you, you hold your breath, which is the worst thing you can do.
BM: Yeah!
LKM: Because, to relax, you have to breathe deeply and slowly, and our first instinct is to hold our breath.
BM: You just don’t realize that you’re doing that though.
LKM: You don’t; you really don’t.  Yeah, because it’s so tedious that you don’t want to do it over, right? So that was your third job, and how long did you do that?  
BM: Probably less, I don’t know if it was a ye, but I wasn’t making production, and they were, at that time, they were pressing production more, and Neil Kimbrough was one of the bosses and he came and talked to me, and he asked me if I would like to go to the design center where they made samples out by the airport.
LKM: Oh.
BM: And they was going to take a few down there, and so.
LKM: Now would that be considered a promotion for you, a better job?  
BM: I think it was, I think if I hadn’t made production they might have laid me off.  
LKM: Oh.
BM: It was job protection, because he had, you know, he saw I was trying, and I really, I was, and I was there.
LKM: So they thought maybe you’d do better over here.
BM: So he, he just, yeah, and there were several of us that they got to go there and work.  But that job, the briefs, it was a rough job.  
LKM: Yeah.
BM: Course I was having a family problem at that time too, then learning the new machines.
LKM: Makes everything harder, doesn’t it? 
BM: I just got so upset one day, I got up and walked out of the building and came home. 
LKM: Did you?
BM: Cried all the way home. 
LKM: Wow.
BM: Walked – it’d been raining, didn’t even have a coat on or nothing; I was so upset.
LKM: You’re not the only person that’s ever happened to!
BM: I was surprised; I couldn’t believe I did it!
LKM: You couldn’t believe it.
BM: They were looking for me everywhere, down in the basement, upstairs…
LKM: Didn’t say anything to anybody, just left?
BM: Nobody, I just went down to use the phone, and I just couldn’t go back up; I just left.
LKM: There comes a point where it’s just too much, and I can’t take anymore right now, and yeah.
BM: Yeah.
LKM: Absolutely.
BM: I came home, let myself in, went in there and went to bed.  My mom didn’t know I was here.  My daughter came and checked, came to see Is Mama here?  And she said I don’t reckon, says let’s go back there in the bedroom, and there I was in the bed…
LKM: Yeah.
BM:…[unintelligible] it’s terrible.
LKM: But you went back the next day?
BM: I went back.  Neil called me, he says, Betty, he says, anytime you have a problem, just come and talk to us.  But he didn’t realize it was the family problem that was getting me, but that…
LKM: Yeah.
BM:...that pushed me out, that just pushed me on, you know.
LKM: Yeah, right, right.
BM:  But they paid, they went on and gave me my, it was a paid holiday that, a qualifying day for a paid holiday, and they went on, they didn’t hold that against me.
LKM: Well that was good.
BM: And I thought that was unique.
LKM: Yeah, yeah. So, was there a union at any point when you worked there?
BM: No, there was no union.
LKM: There was never any union?
BM: They tried, but it never did get in.
LKM: So when did, when was there a, like an effort to have a union?  Do you know about what year that was?
BM: I don’t have no idea. 
LKM: But like periodically people would try to organize a union and it never went anywhere?
BM: It just, I just don’t remember how many times, because I never would even talk to any of them.  I didn’t want to fool with it
LKM: Yeah. So what are some of the, aside from the one you just mentioned, what are some really memorable events that you’d like to share? It could be something really big that happened, or a big catastrophe, or…
BM: Well they, they had a fire down there one time.
LKM: OK. Do you know when that was?
BM: No, I don’t, I really don’t.
LKM: Was it like 70s, 80s?
BM: No, it was, let’s see, I went to work 72, it might have been in the 80s sometime.
LKM: OK.
BM: And we got to stay home just while they were cleaning up and just, but few days it wasn’t for a long period.  Just a unit; it wasn’t the whole plant or anything.  
LKM: And did they know how it started?
BM: I don’t remember.
LKM: Well you know that lint is very flammable.
BM: Yeah, I know.
LKM: So did they allow anybody to smoke, or were there any open flames or anything in any part of the working floor?
BM: They couldn’t smoke in the sewing room, now they, I think they smoked down in the cafeteria and in the lobby, but they weren’t allowed to smoke upstairs.  We even ate at our, we could eat, we ate our lunch at, if you wanted to, at our machine.
LKM: Really?
BM: I always took a sandwich and something to drink, or I’d get a cup of coffee.
LKM: Uh-huh.  Boy, that’s the last place I’d want to eat lunch.  I’d want to go outside and get some fresh air.
BM: Yeah, I just, sometimes I’d go home because I lived two blocks down.
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: I never ate in the cafeteria but two or three times the whole time I was there, and of course I had to count pennies, and I thought in a month’s time, that would add up, you know.
LKM:  Yeah, so it was just like a regular cafeteria, it wasn’t subsidized for you?
BM: No, it was a little cafeteria that they, and they had a sandwich truck, it would come on a break and lunch, and a lot of people would go, once in a while I would go, in the later years I would, when my kids got up bigger where I could, when my husband and I went back together and we had a, it was easier, so I would get a sandwich every once in a while.  
LKM: Yeah, it, you’re right; it does add up.  I see people drinking Starbucks, and I’m going, I can’t afford four dollars for a cup of coffee…
BM: That’s…yeah!
LKM: …I can make it for a quarter at my house and it’s just as good!
BM: The coffee I buy is I think about five dollars for a canister, it lasts almost a week here
LKM:  Yeah. It’s a lot of money. I had  a, my cousin married this guy who he, his dad was the school janitor, and they had five or six kids,  and he had one of those, you know great big industrial cafeteria pickle jars, and he would come home every day and put all his spare change in that pickle jar, and he sent all five of those kids to college on that pickle jar. 
BM: Really?
LKM: And he was a janitor and his wife never worked. And, I mean they did not ever, he would not ever spend his, his change on a stick of gum, nothing, it all went in that jar.
BM: Boy, that was unusual. 
LKM: And, you know, they faithfully put it in the bank, and it worked.  So, yeah, people know how to do that if they have to.  
BM: It’s just the denying yourself the pleasure, saving your pleasure later than now.
LKM: Yeah, self-denial.  Well, it’s something that people don’t know much about these days, I don’t think, young people anyway. They have to have everything now.
BM: They had a milk machine there. You could get a drink milk anytime you wanted it; they’d furnish the milk.
LKM: So that was, that was free?  
BM: Free.  Said you needed it with that work, type of work you did.
LKM: Keep you going.
BM: And they used to give it in a little, a little cartons, but people would take it home.
LKM: Oh, OK.  So would you have to bring your own cup or something?  
BM: No, they got a machine, and they put this milk in it, a big old bag, and it has a little old spout, little rubber hose like thing that comes down through there, and they’d have a little lever and you push it and the milk would come out of that into a little cup, so you couldn’t… now you could, I suppose some took it home in their thermos or something…
LKM: Yeah.
BM: …I’m sure they did, but.
LKM: Well, you don’t know what you’d do if you had six babies…
BM: No, you don’t, do you?
LKM: …that all needed milk, and yeah, yeah, people do what they have to to survive.
BM:  And if it’s free, you’re, really you’re not stealing it.
LKM: Uh-huh!
BM: If it’s free, you’re not.
LKM: Well, I guess so, yeah. If they’re providing it…
BM: Well, you could look at it one way, it’s for the factory workers.
LKM: Yeah, right.
BM: Yeah, I guess I might do it if I had…
LKM: If you had to.
BM: If I had to. If it was free.
LKM: Yeah.  This is what I’m thinking:  WHO would do this job if they didn’t absolutely have to?
BM: I don’t think anybody.
LKM: Nobody would do this job if they weren’t…
BM: No.
LKM:…hard up, had bills, had kids; I mean you would almost do any other job than something like this, wouldn’t you?
BM: A lot of people can’t do it, it’s, they just...
LKM: And it is skilled; it’s not like, you know, like you said, it was so hard to get on, and you had to know somebody, and obviously they had to know something about your character and about your work ethic….
BM: Yeah.
LKM: Yeah, she’d do all right; we’ll train her, and yeah, but really if there were any job around, you know, around here that were a little bit easier that you thought you might do, you would certainly go for that, wouldn’t you? Wow. So do you think a lot of people there either didn’t finish high school, or…
BM: Probably didn’t; probably a lot of them.
LKM: So that was what limited them?
BM: Probably.
LKM: To doing that kind of job?  
LKM: And now of course, almost anybody can go to college, you can go to… 
BM: Yeah, I know.
LKM: …there’s grant money, there’s all kinds of, you know, you can go to community college, you can get loans and grants and then they graduate and they still can’t find a job, so many of them.
BM: Well, you have to have your GED to even do janitor work, or any type of work.	
LKM: Um-hmm.
BM: So I knew that it was time for me to get my GED; I had tried before; they came two or three different times, had classes there, and I joined it and then I dropped out, but when I, when it came to had to do it, I did it.
LKM: Um-hmm.
BM:  Because, you know, I wasn’t going to have a job.
LKM: Yeah.
BM: But I went to work at another sewing factory at Turners.
LKM: Turners?
BM: Turners.  After…
LKM: After you retired?
BM: No, after my unemployment ran out.  
LKM: OK. And when was that; what year was that?
BM: 95 I think.
LKM:  So this was here in Bowling Green?
BM: Yes.
LKM: OK.
BM: Turners was out on Louisville Rd.
LKM: Is that Turners as in Dollar Store Turners?
BM: No, it’s …
LKM:  Same family, no?
BM:  No, it’s just a, no it’s not that.
LKM: What did they make there?
BM: They made, they made fashion wear, like…
LKM: Outer clothing?
BM: Yes.
LKM: Are they still in business?
BM: No, they, they, after five years they, they closed up. In fact, Fruit of the Loom bought their facility.
LKM: Oh did they? OK. So anything else that stands out in your mind, as anything like a fire, or something really big that happened?
BM: I can’t think of anything right now.  I know what they would do if you was off of work on sick leave, people would, your unit would make up and buy you a gift.
LKM: That’s nice.
BM: Yeah, or they’d have you a baby shower if you were pregnant. 
LKM: Um-hmm. That’s really nice. 
BM: And my house burned when lived there, I worked there.  
LKM: Well, that’s a big thing.
BM: Yeah, my house burned in 76, and Kathy, my youngest daughter…
LKM: Did you, did you lose everything?
BM: Yes; didn’t have insurance, which I had had fire insurance; in fact the guy that I had it with is the one that got me on at the Derby. 
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: But it didn’t pay; I had, my mattress caught fire, and it wouldn’t pay, my insurance didn’t pay, so I dropped it.
LKM: Because the mattress caught fire? 
BM: Because they said it couldn’t have caught, somebody could have set it; it wasn’t done by electrical.  What happened, I looked under the, under the mattress with a piece of paper to look for something because I lived in a real old house, and a spark must have jumped off of that.
LKM: You mean like a lit piece of paper?
BM: Yeah.
LKM: That you were using like a candle… OK, gotcha.
BM: I just rolled a piece of paper like a candle and looked under the mattress for, under the bed for something, well a spark must have jumped off into the box frames.  And I went to church and came back and the little girl, her friend, she stayed all night, and they was jumping up and down on the bed, and they said, Mama it’s smoking here, so I went and raised that mattress up and seen it was on fire, so I drug it outside and told Mr. Milam about it, and I said I’m not going to keep my insurance because it doesn’t pay.  
LKM: Um-hmm.
BM: So they probably thought it was, may have been just set.
LKM: On purpose?
BM: Yes.  I thought well it’s, it wasn’t done on purpose.
LKM: Um-hmm.
BM: So I just let it go and I didn’t have any insurance, and I was pregnant with my last girl, last baby, and went back to work, we was on vacation, went back to work, just been back to work a few days and my house burned. 
LKM: My gosh.
BM: And I lost every, all my stuff, baby pictures.  But anyway, they made up, whole unit gave a shower, but then the whole plant, they passed papers around and gave me several hundred dollars to help.  And yeah, that was a big thing.  
LKM: Several hundred dollars was a…
BM: Back then…
LKM: …was a, back then that was a pretty good chunk of money, to yeah, especially if you had nothing, that was devastating.
BM: And people would bring you, you know, for several months they would bring you things, give it to you.
LKM: Um-hmm.
BM: In fact I had, I had a, quite a few things that I used for several years…
LKM: Um-hmm.
BM: …that came in handy
LKM: Oh yeah, yeah.  My mother had two houses that burned, which you wouldn’t believe.  I think one was, I was the youngest of seven, one was before I was born, and one I was two or something.  I just remember being taken down the road and standing under this tree, and watching people carrying stuff out of the house, so as you can imagine, she was terrified of any kind of open flame or fire, all her life, she hated thunderstorms. Can’t imagine – two – what are the odds of that?
BM: Well, it happens.  And the house I lived in was about like a barn.  It was old.  
LKM: Um-hmm.
BM: And it was, the wood on it was real, real old, and it just went up like cardboard.  
LKM: Yeah, really, really dry.
BM: I just thank God it wasn’t, we wasn’t in bed asleep.
LKM: Yeah, yeah, so nobody got hurt.
BM: We probably would have burned.  
LKM: Yeah.
BM: You know. 
LKM: Yeah.
BM: I was at church that night, I went [unintelligible] company to church, came back and went to his mother’s and hadn’t got back home yet, and I left my daughter there in the bathtub, my little one in the bathtub with my bigger girl, because I worked overtime that day, and I didn’t take her with me, and the neighbor came in from church, they said, Everything’s OK, but says your house is burning down. 
LKM: Wow.
BM: So I went home and sure enough it was just going up and just, but didn’t grieve over it because I knew that nobody was hurt.
LKM: Yeah.
BM: I hated to lose everything, but…
LKM: Yeah.
BM:...it’s not like losing family. 
LKM: Well, we’re all going to lose everything one day.
BM: That’s right.
LKM: So let’s not be too attached to it.
BM: That’s right.
LKM: That’s what I have learned, is you’re not going to have that in…
BM: That’s right.
LKM:…wherever you’re going.
BM: Wherever you’re going you’re not taking it.
LKM: You’re not going to have that thing.
BM: Right.
LKM: And things lose their importance, don’t they?  They have a usefulness…
BM: Yeah.
LKM: …while you’re, you know, while you’re here, but you probably have a lot of things, like that pickle jar story, I just love that story.  They did without so many things that other people wouldn’t thought are essential, I just have to have this, you know.
BM: Yeah. That was…
LKM: They did without all of it, so their kids could go to college, and…
BM: That’s really, that’s unusual. Of course that probably happens more than you would think.  
LKM: I think so.
BM: And then course with the, with the, as many people as it is, you know, course it’s easy now, like you said, to get an education, back then it was hard.
LKM: Yeah. Yeah, it was hard fought, even in the, in the 80s when I was in college, there were Pell grants and there were loans and that, but I still had to work two and three jobs most of the time, you know, because I had to pay for food and clothes and, you know, everything else, and my tuition wasn’t always fully paid, but if I hadn’t had that help there’s no way I could’ve, I could’ve finished college.
BM:  My grandson is staying with me right now and he’s started at Draughon’s college.
LKM: Um-hmm.
BM: He’s just started this year, he’s working at Kroger at night, and goes to school, course he just goes school days a week.
LKM: Right.
BM: But still the days that he goes, he’s up all night working.
LKM: Uh-huh.  Yeah.
BM: And, so it’s…
LKM: It’s still a struggle but it’s definitely worth it. 
BM: It’s worth, yeah, yeah.
LKM: And if nothing else they can learn from the example of looking at their parents and grandparents of how
BM: But they had…
LKM:…hard they had to work.
BM: To just barely put something on the table.
LKM: Exactly, yeah, yeah.  And you know, like I said, that really hard to, and that’s something that I hope this project is going to do when people listen to these stories of people who actually did these jobs, and how hard they worked, and how difficult it was, and how they managed, you know, all these different things they had to do with work and home; and, if nothing else it should make you really grateful for what…
BM: And you didn’t lay out of work just because you had a headache.
LKM: No.
BM: You worked sick.  
LKM: Yeah.
BM: I mean sick. You go and work sick. 
LKM: You didn’t skive off for the, any little reason.
BM: No.
LKM: Yeah, yeah. 
BM: And some would.
LKM: And if you did, you probably got fired after a while, didn’t you?
BM: Well, I’ve never known them fire very many people. 
LKM: Really. They just had so much business, I guess they had to keep them all on.
BM: Yeah.
LKM: I think that’s amazing…
BM: Because people would, sometimes they would work just a few weeks – [looking out the window] that’s my daughter, she’s the one that told you had the, what do you call it, not the magazine…
LKM: The newsletter?
BM: That newsletter.  But Louie told me that, he said this one girl came all the time, and, to get on, and he got tired, he said I just got tired of her coming every day, so I hired her. He said she didn’t stay the whole day. She didn’t stay even one day.
LKM: Really. And she wanted that job so bad.
BM: She thought she did.
LKM: And then she, she couldn’t take it, she didn’t realize…
BM: Yeah.
LKM…how difficult it was.
BM: When I went upstairs, he told me, he said, when he hired me, he said You go upstairs, you know where the sewing room is?  I said Yes.  He said You go upstairs and stand at the top of the stairs, and I’ll be up, make my round, and he’d make his rounds. And I walked in there and stood waiting for him, and those women were grabbing and snatching and pushing and I thought, Oh my goodness, what have I got myself into?
LKM: Wow.
BM: I just, I felt like running back down the steps, but I didn’t.  I stayed.
LKM: Uh-huh.  
BM: And they have some, a girl that does that operation to help you.
LKM: Yeah.
BM: They have one that stands there at your machine and…
LKM: Trains you.
BM: No, you watch her first. This is my daughter, Sharon.
LKM: I can’t have your voice on the recording, sorry.
BM: So she, you stand there and watch her for a good little while, and then they set you down to a machine and give you strips. 
LKM: Uh-huh.
BM: Just strips of material and you sit there and practice.  
LKM: Uh-huh. So, anything else that you would like to add?  This has been great information – very, very detailed, it really gives a picture of what it was like to work there. Now the minute I shut this off, you’re going to go I should have told you this, so I’m going to give you a second to think about that thing.
BM: If I’m seen, if people are seeing me how I look when I talk, I probably won’t even look at it.
LKM: Oh, no, no, no.
BM: How I bug my eyes, and…
LKM: You know, it’s incredible that this is a very under-studied area in Kentucky, for an industry that has been so important in this region, there’s very little primary, which is what this is going to be, it’s a primary historical  document, collected directly from somebody who did the job, not somebody who heard about somebody who, you know.
BM: Told, heard about it.
LKM: It’s a first-hand account, and those are so valuable, so, yeah, I would really appreciate you turning me on to anyone else who has connection, or history.
BM: My daughters, I had several family members, and it, like you said, it is…
LKM: Yeah.
BM: …sometimes whole families are working there. And if there’s a death, see, it makes it hard on the…
LKM: Because everyone has too…
BM: Because everybody’s off.
LKM: Right.
BM: But they hired, hired family.  And people would work a few months and quit. As far as layoffs, I don’t…
LKM: They just didn’t, didn’t ever have a slowdown. 
BM: Not to my knowledge. 
LKM: Yeah.
BM: Not during my time.  
LKM: Anything else you want to add?
BM: I know when we closed down you just felt like you were losing your family.
LKM: Really. Do you have like reunions with some of the people you worked with, or just kind of see them here in town?
BM: No, but certain families might get together, but I’ve seen Linda a couple times since she left town.
LKM: Did they ever have a company picnic, or?
BM: Yeah, they had picnics.
LKM: Barbeques?
BM: I never went to them. I never did go to a one of them.  They had them every year I believe, but I just never did go. I always just, it was a lot of trouble to me to get the kids ready and go. 
LKM: So they would bring all their kids and everybody?
BM: Yeah, you could bring your family.
LKM:  And they provided the food for that, that was?
BM: Yeah, provided the food. 
LKM: Oh I would’ve gone.  I would’ve brought like twelve kids from the neighborhood and said they were mine.  Just feed everybody.  
BM: What they did, they, in the later years, I don’t know when this started, but they started, they would grade your work, had a lady to come and check it, and then, of course which that was fine, but they would, if your production dropped, they’d put a little, they’d take away your little, up here; they put on each machine what production you made.  If you was 120%... 
LKM: It’s like the teacher posting your grade after a test.
BM: Each person…
LKM: Oh my.  
BM: Yeah. Each machine had, you had your, if you was making production or not, and they’d take it away, if your production dropped, they’d come take it away, you know, and you’d be there you sit, I got my little card took down today. 
LKM: It was like a little public shaming.
BM: And they had a timesheet up, they’d put on there, instructors table there, and it told each two weeks pay period, it told what you made, what everybody else made. So you knew what each other made, and I never did like that. I didn’t think that was…
LKM: Wow, what was the purpose of that? 
BM: I don’t know, I don’t know.
LKM: So like, you’d say I’m going to beat her next week?
BM: Probably.
LKM: Or to make you more competitive or something?
BM: I just don’t have no idea.
LKM: I would think that would be, of course that wouldn’t happen today; we’re too afraid of hurting people’s feelings today, but I think that’s pretty brazen.
BM: I didn’t like that, but it was my job and I couldn’t, I wouldn’t complain about it at all, because.  I walked to work.  I could walk to work rain, shine, whatever.
LKM: Yeah, he was saying a lot of the ladies lived right close around in that area so they could walk…
BM: Yeah.
LKM: …and then go home for lunch if they wanted to.
BM: Yeah.
LKM: OK, if there’s nothing else you want to…
BM: I can’t think of anything.
[bookmark: _GoBack]LKM: If you do later, you can call me.  I can always add, because I have notes that I append to the record when I upload it, so I can always add that.  So I want to thank you again, Betty Miller, for sharing your time with the Garment Workers in Kentucky Oral History project.
BM: OK. Thank you, Lisa. 

Duration 1:12:05








